
Gulf Pharmaceutical Industries P.S.C.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2023





14 March 2024



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

ERNST & YOUNG – MIDDLE EAST
(SHARJAH BRANCH)
P.O. Box 1350
City Gate Tower, 14th Floor, Office No. 1402
Al-Ittihad Street, Emirate of Sharjah
United Arab Emirates

Tel: +971 6 574 1491
Fax: +971 4 332 4004
sharjah@ae.ey.com
ey.com

PL No. 2845

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GULF PHARMACEUTICALS INDUSTRIES P.S.C.

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Gulf Pharmaceuticals Industries P.S.C. (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity, and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”).

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountant’ International Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (the “IESBA Code”) together
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in United
Arab Emirates, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GULF PHARMACEUTICALS INDUSTRIES P.S.C. (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment of non-financial assets:
The Group performed a quantitative and
qualitative impairment assessment on its cash
generating units (CGUs). Management conducted
the impairment test based on its assessment of
indicators such as deteriorated operational
performance of the CGUs in previous years and
continued under utilization of some of the CGUs
or assets. These indicators may imply that the
carrying value of some of the non-financial assets
of the Group might not be fully recoverable.

Management identified certain independent
CGUs, for the purposes of impairment assessment
of the Group. For the CGUs where impairment
indicators exist, management estimated the
recoverable amounts of the CGUs, being higher of
fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD”) and
value in use (“VIU”).

Given the significant judgments made by
management to estimate the recoverable amount
of the CGUs, performing audit procedures to
evaluate the reasonableness of management’s
estimates and assumptions required a high degree
of auditor judgment. Accordingly, we have
identified this to be a key audit matter.

Refer to notes 14 and 15 to the consolidated
financial statements for the relevant disclosures
and note 3.6 for key source of estimation
uncertainty.

Our procedures to test the impairment analysis
prepared by management of the Group for the
identified CGUs included the following:

 Where impairment indicators exist, we examined
the methodology used by management to assess
the recoverable amounts of the CGUs in
accordance with IFRS;

 We evaluated the assumptions used by
management of the Group in determining the
recoverable amount of the CGUs and assessing
whether appropriate valuation methodologies have
been applied;

 We evaluated the reasonableness of management’s
significant assumptions by comparing it to the (1)
the historical operating results of the CGU’s and
(2) internal communications to management and
the Board of Directors;

 With the support of our internal valuation
specialists we assessed the appropriateness of
Weighted Average Cost of Capital (“WACC”),
used as a discount factor and terminal growth rate
used in the determination of cash flow forecast;

 We performed sensitivity analyses of significant
assumptions used to evaluate the change in the
recoverable amount of the CGUs resulting from
changes in the inputs and assumptions. We also
assessed the historical accuracy of management’s
projections by comparing it with the actual data
and;

 Assessed the adequacy of the related disclosures in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GULF PHARMACEUTICALS INDUSTRIES P.S.C. (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Allowance for slow-moving inventories:
The gross balance of inventory as at 31 December
2023 is AED 725.9 million, against which
provision for slow moving and obsolete inventory
amounting to AED 60.7 million was made. The
Group assesses the valuation of all inventory
items including raw materials, packing materials,
work-in process and finished goods at each
reporting date. Obsolete, expired, slow-moving
and defective inventories are written down to its
estimated net realisable value if less than cost.

We have considered allowance for slow-moving
inventories to be a key audit matter because it
requires management’s assessment of the
estimates of whether a write down is required.
Key parameter for the inventory valuation
includes expiration dates of the inventory. The
measurement of any excess of cost over net
realisable value is judgemental considering the
involvement of a number of qualitative factors
that are affected by market and economic
conditions outside the Group’s control.

Refer to note 3.6 to the consolidated financial
statements for the key source of estimation
uncertainty, note 16 for inventory disclosure and
movement of allowance for slow-moving
inventories.

As part of our audit, the procedures to test the
management’s estimate of allowance for slow-
moving and obsolete inventory included the
following:

 We obtained through inquiry an understanding
from management and evaluated the design of the
internal controls over the Group’s process
pertaining to inventory valuation and allowance
for slow-moving inventories. We also obtained an
understanding about the management’s assessment
of inventory valuation, including the development
of forecasted usage of inventories and
consideration of how factors outside the Group’s
control might affect management’s judgement
related to valuation of slow-moving, expired,
obsolete and defective inventory;

 We observed the inventory count performed by
management’s expert and assessed the physical
existence and condition of selected samples of the
inventories;

 We evaluated the significant assumptions taken
applied by management and tested the
completeness of the underlying data used by
management to value the slow-moving
inventories;

 We tested the expiration dates of the inventory for
a sample of inventory items based on the product
expiration data and prospective assumptions on
their expiries. We compared the provision based on
the expiration data with the provision recognised
by management;

 We tested the valuation of year-end inventory for
a sample of selected inventory items, including
review of judgements considered regarding
obsolescence and net realizable value; and

 We also checked that appropriate disclosures have
been made in the consolidated financial statements
in compliance with the IFRS.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GULF PHARMACEUTICALS INDUSTRIES P.S.C. (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Other Information
The Board of Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
Directors Report and does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Company’s
Articles of Association and UAE Federal Law No. 32 of 2021, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GULF PHARMACEUTICALS INDUSTRIES P.S.C. (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GULF PHARMACEUTICALS INDUSTRIES P.S.C. (continued)

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Further, as required by the UAE Federal Law No. 32 of 2021, we report that for the year ended
31 December 2023:

i) the Company has maintained proper books of account;

ii) we have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit;

iii) the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with
the applicable provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company and the UAE Federal Law
No. 32 of 2021;

iv) the financial information included in the Board of Director’s report is consistent with the books of
account of the Company;

v) investments in shares and stocks during the year ended 31 December 2023, if any, are disclosed in
notes 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements;

vi) note 28 reflects material related party transactions and the terms under which they were conducted;

vii) based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to our attention which
causes us to believe that the Company has contravened during financial year ended 31 December
2023, any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. 32 of 2021 or of its Articles of
Association which would materially affect its activities or its financial position as at 31 December
2023; and

viii) note 8 reflects the social contributions made during the year.

For Ernst & Young

Signed by:
Wardah Ebrahim
Partner
Registration No.: 1258

14 March 2024

Sharjah, United Arab Emirates



Gulf Pharmaceutical Industries P.S.C.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
For the year ended 31 December 2023

The attached notes 1 to 36 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2023 2022
AED AED

Notes millions millions

Continuing operations
Revenue from contracts with customers 4 1,638.0 1,616.1
Cost of revenue 5 (1,089.3) (1,058.2)

──────── ────────
Gross profit 548.7 557.9

Other income 6 12.4 49.0
Selling and distribution expenses 7 (388.2) (367.3)
General and administrative expenses 8 (209.1) (229.0)
Gain from investments and others 3.5 2.0

──────── ────────
Operating (loss)/ profit (32.7) 12.6

Finance income 9 6.0 3.6
Finance costs 10 (64.0) (40.1)

──────── ────────

Loss before tax for the year from continuing operations (90.7) (23.9)

Net income tax and zakat expense 11 (9.2) (2.8)
──────── ────────

Loss for the year from continuing operations (99.9) (26.7)

Discontinued operations
Hyperinflation adjustment on net monetary position 35 (3.1) (9.5)
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 12(b) 4.5 4.5

──────── ────────
1.4 (5.0)

──────── ────────
LOSS FOR THE YEAR (98.5) (31.7)

════════ ════════

Loss attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent (99.1) (29.4)
Non-controlling interests 12(b) 0.6 (2.3)

──────── ────────
(98.5) (31.7)

════════ ════════
Earnings per share:

Basic and diluted
Loss per share attributable to the
equity holders of the Parent (in UAE fils)

13 (8.6) (2.5)
──────── ────────

Earnings per share for continuing operations:
Basic and diluted
Loss per share from continuing operations attributable
to the equity holders of the Parent (in UAE fils) 13 (8.6) (2.3)

════════ ════════



Gulf Pharmaceutical Industries P.S.C.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2023

The attached notes 1 to 36 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
11

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Loss for the year (98.5) (31.7)

Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to

profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Currency translation differences (23.6) (41.9)
Hyperinflation adjustment relating to discontinued operations 35 3.5 16.8
(Loss)/ gain on cash flow hedge 33 (8.5) 26.9
Reclassification adjustment to profit or loss 33 1.4 1.3

──────── ────────
(27.2) 3.1

Other comprehensive income that will
not be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods:

Net change in fair value of financial asset
at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVTOCI) 18 - (7.0)

Actuarial gain on employees' end of service benefits 23 3.7 -
──────── ────────

Total other comprehensive loss for the year (23.5) (3.9)
──────── ────────

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (122.0) (35.6)
════════ ════════

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent (122.3) (40.2)
Non-controlling interests 12(b) 0.3 4.6

──────── ────────
(122.0) (35.6)

════════ ════════







Gulf Pharmaceutical Industries P.S.C.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2023

The attached notes 1 to 36 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
14

Attributable to the equity holders of the Parent
──────────────────────────────────────────────────────

Foreign
currency Cashflow Fair Non-

Share Statutory translation hedge value Accumulated controlling Total
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED

million million million million million million million million million

As at 1 January 2021 1,155.3  185.5  (160.7)  (1.5) -  (221.9)  956.7  7.1  963.8

Loss for the year - - - - - (29.4)  (29.4)  (2.3) (31.7)

Other comprehensive (loss)/ income for the year - -    (32.0)  28.2  (7.0) - (10.8)  6.9  (3.9)
──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ────────

Total comprehensive (loss)/ income for the year - - (32.0)  28.2  (7.0)  (29.4)  (40.2)  4.6  (35.6)
──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ────────

As at 31 December 2022 1,155.3  185.5   (192.7)  26.7  (7.0) (251.3) 916.5  11.7 928.2

Loss for the year - - - - - (99.1)  (99.1)  0.6  (98.5)

Other comprehensive (loss)/ income for the year - - (19.8)  (7.1) - 3.7  (23.2)  (0.3)  (23.5)
──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ────────

Total comprehensive (loss)/ income for the year - -   (19.8)  (7.1) - (95.4)  (122.3)  0.3  (122.0)
──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ────────

As at 31 December 2023 1,155.3  185.5 (212.5)  19.6  (7.0) (346.7)  794.2  12.0  806.2
════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════



Gulf Pharmaceutical Industries P.S.C.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2023

The attached notes 1 to 36 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2023 2022
AED AED

Notes millions millions

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax for the year from continuing operations (90.7) (23.9)
Profit/ (loss) before tax for the year from discontinued operations 12(b) 3.5 (3.2) 

──────── ────────
Loss before tax for the year (87.2) (27.1)
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14(b) 80.8 76.3
Depreciation of right of use asset 29 42.2 36.9
Amortisation of intangible assets 15 18.6 18.8
Liabilities written back 6 (1.5) (39.0)
Allowance for slow-moving inventories 16(a) 47.8 24.0 
Allowance for expected credit loss on receivables 19(a) 12.7 7.0 
Other receivables written off  2.3 -
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 23 13.0 13.5 
Hyperinflation adjustment 35 3.1 9.5
Fair valuation gain on financial asset at FVTPL  (1.0)  -
Receivable from a divested subsidiary written off - 9.8
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (0.1) 0.1
Finance income 9 (6.0) (3.6)
Finance costs 10 64.0 40.1

──────── ────────
188.7 166.3

Changes in working capital
 Trade and other receivables 6.9 (68.9)
 Inventories (36.7) (42.9)
 Trade payables, accruals and deferred revenue (57.8) (18.2)

──────── ────────
Cash used in operations 101.1 36.3
 Employees’ end of service benefits paid 23 (6.2) (12.4) 
 Income tax and zakat paid (2.7) (4.6)

──────── ────────
Net cash flows from operating activities 92.2 19.3

──────── ────────

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 14 (22.1) (63.7) 
Purchase of intangible assets 15 (4.9) (1.7)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 0.1 -
Deposits having maturities after three months and less than one year (3.3) 10.4 
Finance income received 6.0 3.6
Proceeds from divestment of subsidiaries - 51.4
Purchase of quoted equity investments at FVTOCI 18 - (7.3) 

──────── ────────
Net cash flows used in investing activities (24.2) (7.3)

──────── ────────
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

The attached notes 1 to 36 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank borrowings 24(c) 150.0 85.0
Utilization of bank overdraft and trust receipts facility, net 24(c) 104.9 (33.9)
Repayment of bank borrowings 24(c) (45.0) -
Repayment of lease liabilities 29(b) (48.6) (42.8)
Interest paid (57.9) (34.6)

──────── ────────
Net cash from/ (used in) financing activities 103.4 (26.3)

──────── ────────
NET INCREASE/ (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 173.4 (14.3)

Currency translation differences (28.2) (42.3)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 86.4 143.0
──────── ────────

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 20 231.6 86.4
════════ ════════
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2023
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1. ACTIVITIES

Gulf Pharmaceutical Industries P.S.C is a public shareholding company (the “Company” or “Parent Company”)
domiciled in Digdaga - Ras Al Khaimah. It was incorporated by the Emiri decree No.5/80 issued by H.H. The Ruler
of the Emirate of Ras Al Khaimah and its dependencies on 30 March 1980 and the Emiri decree No.9/80 on 4 May
1980.

The Company’s registered office address is P.O. Box. 997 Ras Al Khaimah, United Arab Emirates (UAE). The
Company commenced its commercial activities effective from November 1984. The Company’s ordinary shares are
listed on the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group” or “Julphar”) are the manufacturing and
selling of medicines, drugs and various other types of pharmaceutical and medical compounds in addition to cosmetic
compounds.

Information on the Group’s structure is provided in note 2.

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with the resolution of the Board of
Directors on 14 March 2024.

2. GROUP INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements reflect the operations of the Group as at 31 December 2023. By virtue of
shareholders and other agreements, the Company holds directly or indirectly a controlling interest and has the power
to govern the financial and operating policies in each of the subsidiaries listed below (collectively referred to as the
"Group" and individually referred to as "Group Entities"):

Percentage of Ownership
Serial

No. Name of subsidiary
Country of

Incorporation 2023 2022 Subsidiary activity

Direct subsidiaries

1. Mena Cool Transportation
F.Z.E.

United Arab
Emirates

100% 100% Transportation

2. Julphar Pharmaceuticals
P.L.C. (note (b))

Ethiopia 55% 55% Manufacturing medicines

3. Julphar SES L.L.C. (note
(a))

Egypt 99.8% 99.8% General trading

4. Julphar Diabetes L.L.C.
(note (a))

United Arab
Emirates

100% 100% Manufacturing medicines

5. Julphar Company for
Trading and Distribution
L.L.C. (note (a))

Egypt 99.8% 99.8% General trading

6. Mena Cool Machinery
Trading (note (a))

United Arab
Emirates

100% 100% General trading

7. Julphar Life L.L.C. (note
(a))

United Arab
Emirates

100% 100% General trading

8. Julphar Tunisie (note (a)) Tunisia 99% 99% Distributor of Julphar’s
products in Tunisia

9. Julphar Gulf
Pharmaceuticals Kenya
Limited (note (a))

Kenya 100% 100% Distributor of
Julphar's products in
Kenya

10. Planet Pharmacies L.L.C United Arab
Emirates

100% 100% Distribution, wholesale
and retail trading of
medicines and cosmetic
products.
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2. GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Percentage of Ownership
Serial
No. Name of subsidiary

Country of
Incorporation 2023 2022 Subsidiary activity

Indirect subsidiaries
Subsidiary of Mena Cool Machinery Trading 

1. Julphar General Trading
L.L.C. (note (a) 

United Arab
Emirates

100% 100% General trading

Subsidiary of Julphar Company for Trading and Distribution L.L.C. 

1. Julphar Egypt Company
L.L.C.

Egypt 100% 100% Distributors of Julphar’s
products in Egypt

Subsidiary of Julphar Egypt Company L.L.C.

1. Julphar Plus (note (a) and
(c))

Egypt 100% 100% Manufacturing and
distribution of medicines

Subsidiaries of Planet Pharmacies L.L.C.

1. Julphar Drug Store Sharjah United Arab
Emirates

100% 100% Trading in medicines
and medical equipment

2. Julphar Drug Store LLC
(Abu Dhabi)

United Arab
Emirates

100% 100% Trading in medicines
and medical equipment

3. Awafi Drug Store United Arab
Emirates

100% 100% Trading in medicines
and medical equipment

4. Julphar Healthy Services United Arab
Emirates

100% 100% Facilities management
services, health treatment
undertaking services and
hospitals management

5. Health First Investment LLC United Arab
Emirates

100% 100% Investment in
commercial, industrial,
and healthcare
enterprises and their
management

6. Health First Pharmacy LLC
(Abu Dhabi)

United Arab
Emirates

100% 100% Trading in medicines
and medical equipment

7. Kawakeb Al Saydaliyat
Company LLC

Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia

100% 100% Trading in medicines
and medical equipment

8. Planet Pharmacies LLC Sultanate of
Oman

100% 100% Trading in medicines
and medical equipment

9. Future Medical Co. Ltd Sultanate of
Oman

100% 100% Trading in medicines
and medical equipment

Subsidiaries of Julphar Healthy Services

1. Scientific Pharmacy LLC Sultanate of
Oman

100% 100% Trading in medicines
and medical equipment

Subsidiary of Kawakeb Al Saydaliyat Company LLC

1. Zahrat Al Rawdah
Pharmacies Limited
Liability Company

Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia

100% 100% Retail and wholesale
trading in medicines and
cosmetics
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2. GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

a) These subsidiaries are not operational, and the financial results are immaterial to the overall consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

b) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board of Directors of the Group has renewed its intention to
sell this subsidiary and thus as of 31 December 2023, management has classified the subsidiary as a disposal
group held for sale (note 12). As of the reporting date, the sale of the subsidiary has not been completed and
the sale is expected to be completed within the next year.

c) Certain % of the Group’s ownership stake in these entities is held through beneficial ownership arrangement
with the legal owner.

d) In 2022, 5 indirect subsidiaries of Planet Pharmacies L.L.C. were closed.

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in United Arab Emirates Dirhams (AED), which is the
Parent Company’s functional currency and presentation currency of the consolidated financial statements. All values
are rounded to the nearest million except where otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for financial assets
measured at fair value through profit or loss (note 17) and fair value through other comprehensive income (note 18)
and derivative financial instruments measured at fair value (note 33).

The consolidated financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the previous period.

3.2 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Articles of Association of the
Company and UAE Federal Law No. 32 of 2021.

3.3 Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

 Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee);

 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption and
when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

 The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
 The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the
date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. Non-controlling interests (NCI)
are measured initially at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.3 Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the
Parent and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without loss of control, is accounted for an equity transaction. If
the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-
controlling interests and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value.

3.4 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are consistent with those
followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023, except for the adoption of new standards effective as of 1 January 2023 as mentioned below. The Group has
not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective. These
new standards and interpretations are disclosed below.

a) New and amended standards effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2023

 IFRS 7 Insurance Contracts
 Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to IAS 8
 Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2
 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction – Amendments to IAS 12
 International Tax Reform – Pillar-Two Model Rules – Amendments to IAS 12

The amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2023, but do not have any material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

b) Standards issued but not yet effective

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance
of the Group’s consolidated financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these new and
amended standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective. Majority of the amendments below
are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

 Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (effective from annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and must be applied retrospectively)

 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback – Amendments to IFRS 16 (effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024. Earlier application is permitted, and that fact must be disclosed)

 Supplier Finance Arrangements - Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 (effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024. Early adoption is permitted, but will need to be disclosed)

 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture – Amendments to IFRS
10 and IAS 28 (In December 2015, the IASB decided to defer the effective date of the amendments until such
time as it has finalised any amendments that result from its research project on the equity method. The
amendments must be applied prospectively. Early application is still permitted and must be disclosed)

 Lack of exchangeability – Amendments to IAS 21 (The amendments will be effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. Early adoption is permitted but will need to be disclosed. When
applying the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative information)

3.5 Material accounting policy information

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the
non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.5 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets, including those assets that meet the definition
of, and recognition criteria for intangible assets in IAS 38, and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope
of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9. Other contingent consideration that is not within the scope of IFRS 9 is
measured at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any previous interest held over the net identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed). If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration
transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities
assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the
reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration
transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

For the business combination achieved in stages, the Group is required to remeasure its previously held equity interest
in the acquiree at its acquisition-date fair value and recognise the resulting gain or loss, if any, in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Acquisition of controlling interest in an entity that is not a business
When the Group acquires controlling interest in an entity that is not considered a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired (including those assets that meet the definition of, and
recognition criteria for intangible assets in IAS 38) and liabilities assumed. Asset or a group of assets that does not
constitute a business is recognised at cost, which is the amount of consideration paid or payable, plus any non-
controlling interest recognised related to that asset or a group of assets. The cost of the Group is allocated to the
individual identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Acquisition
of an asset or a group of assets that does not constitute a business does not give rise to goodwill or gain on bargain
purchase.

Current versus non-current classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position based on current/non-
current classification. An asset is classified as current when it is:

 Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle;
 Held primarily for the purpose of trading;
 Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or
 Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve

months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.5 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Current versus non-current classification (continued)
A liability is classified as current when:

 It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle;
 It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;
 It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or
 There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the

reporting period.

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Fair value measurement
The Group measures financial instruments such as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, and non-
financial assets such as a disposal group held for sale, at fair value at each statement of financial position date.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

 In the principal market for the asset or liability; or
 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would
use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

 Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
 Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement

is directly or indirectly observable; and
 Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement

is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis,
the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.

The Group’s management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurement, such as
unquoted financial assets, and for non-recurring measurement, such as assets held for sale in discontinued operations.

At each reporting date, the management analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are
required to be remeasured or re-assessed as per the Group’s accounting policies. For this analysis, the management
verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to
contracts and other relevant documents.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.5 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)
The management also compares the change in the fair value of each asset and liability with relevant external sources
to determine whether the change is reasonable.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the
nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy, as explained above.
Fair value related disclosure for financial instruments that are measured at fair value or where fair values are disclosed,
are summarised in note 31.

Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group is in the business of manufacturing and selling of medicines, drugs and various other types of
pharmaceutical and medical compounds in addition to cosmetic compounds. Revenue from contracts with customers
is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The Group has
concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements, because it typically controls the goods or services before
transferring then to the customer.

Sale of goods
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of the medicines at the customer’s location.

The Group considers whether there are other promises in the contract that are separate performance obligations to
which a portion of the transaction price needs to be allocated. In determining the transaction price for the sale of
goods, the Group considers the effects of variable consideration.

Variable consideration
If the variable consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the Group estimates the amount of consideration
to which it will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods to the customer. The variable consideration is
estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved. Contracts with the sale of goods provide customers with a right to return the
goods when the goods actually expire. The rights of return give rise to variable consideration.

Rights of return
The Group uses the expected value method to estimate the variable consideration. The Group then applies the
requirements on constraining estimates of variable consideration in order to determine the amount of variable
consideration that can be included in the transaction price and recognised as revenue. A refund liability is recognised
for the goods that are expected to be returned (i.e., the amount not included in the transaction price). A right of return
asset (and corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) is also recognised for the right to recover the goods from the
customer in relation to non-pharmaceutical items.

Volume rebates
The Group applies either the most likely amount method or the expected value method to estimate the variable
consideration in the contract. The selected method that best predicts the amount of variable consideration is primarily
driven by the number of volume thresholds contained in the contract. The most likely amount is used for those
contracts with a single volume threshold, while the expected value method is used for those with more than one
volume threshold. The Group then applies the requirements on constraining estimates of variable consideration in
order to determine the amount of variable consideration that can be included in the transaction price and recognised
as revenue. A refund liability is recognised for the expected future rebates (i.e., the amount not included in the
transaction price).

The disclosures of significant estimates and assumptions relating to the estimation of variable consideration for
returns and volume rebates are provided in note 3.6.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.5 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Loyalty discounts
Some of the Group’s subsidiaries have a loyalty programme for retail customers which allows customers to
accumulate discounts on every purchase that can be redeemed against goods and services. The loyalty discounts give
rise to a separate performance obligation as they provide a material right to the customer.

Customer option that provides a material right
Free goods
Free goods are issued to customers as sales incentives. The free goods give rise to a separate performance obligation
as they provide a material right to the customer that the customer would not receive without entering into that contract.

A portion of the transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligation based on relative stand-alone
selling price and recognised as deferred revenue until the free goods are provided. The Group recognises revenue for
the option when those future goods or services are transferred to the customer.

Contract balances
Trade receivables
A receivable is recognised if an amount of consideration that is unconditional is due from the customer (i.e., only the
passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due).

Contract liabilities
A contract liability is recognised if a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Assets and liabilities arising from rights of return
Rights of return assets
A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover the goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset
is measured at the former carrying amount of the inventory, less any expected costs to recover the goods and any
potential decreases in value. The Group updates the measurement of the asset for any revisions to the expected level
of returns and any additional decreases in the value of the returned products.

Refund liabilities
A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some or all of the consideration received (or receivable)
from a customer. The Group’s refund liabilities arise from customers’ right of return. The liability is measured at the
amount the Group ultimately expects it will have to return to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of refund
liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction price) at the end of each reporting period.

Interest income
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to the asset’s carrying amount.

Value added tax
Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of value added tax, except:

 When the value added tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation
authority, in which case, the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of
the expense item, as applicable; and

 When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of value added tax included.

The net amount of value added tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of
receivables or payables in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.5 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property, plant and equipment and borrowing costs for
long-term construction projects if the recognition criteria are met. When significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.  Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised
in the carrying amount of the property and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All
other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period. Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the assets' estimated useful lives
as follows:

Life
Buildings 10 to 25 years
Plant and machinery 3 to 17 years
Installations 4 to 25 years
Motor vehicles 3 to 10 years
Furniture and fixtures 4 to 10 years
Tools and equipment 3 to 10 years
Leasehold improvements 4 to 25 years

Capital work-in-progress is not depreciated and is stated at cost. When ready for intended use, capital work in progress
is transferred to an appropriate category of property, plant and equipment and depreciated in accordance with Group’s
policy.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the carrying
values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their recoverable amount, being the
higher of their fair value less costs to sell and their value in use.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets
are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. The useful lives of
intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period.  Changes in the
expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is
accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting
estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal (i.e., at the date of the recipient obtains control) or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising upon derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.5 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Intangible assets (continued)
Research and development costs
Research and development costs are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which they
are incurred. Development expenditures on an individual project are recognised as an intangible asset when the Group
can demonstrate:

 The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that the asset will be available for use or sale
 Its intention to complete and its ability and intention to use or sell the asset
 How the asset will generate future economic benefits
 The availability of resources to complete the asset
 The ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development

Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation of the asset begins when development
is complete, and the asset is available for use. It is amortised over the period of expected future benefit. Amortisation
is recorded in cost of sales. During the period of development, the asset is tested for impairment annually.

Licenses and permits
Licenses, registrations and permits comprise of rights to distribute Julphar’s products in certain countries that have
been acquired as part of a business combination and are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. The amount
is recognised by calculating the present value of the expected future economic benefits to arise from these licenses
and permits. They have a finite useful life and are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment, if any. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the costs over its estimated
useful life of 5 to 20 years.

Trade names
Trade names acquired are recognised initially at fair value. Trade names are assessed to have an indefinite useful life
and are assessed for impairment at least on an annual basis.

Customer and supplier relations
Customer and supplier relations represent the value attributed to the long-term relationships held with existing
customers and suppliers at the date of acquisition and are amortised over their useful economic life. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the costs over its estimated useful life of 10 years and 15.5 years
for customer relations and supplier relations respectively.

Hospital relations
Hospital relations represent the value attributed to the relationships with the hospitals and clinics for managing and
operating the pharmacies within the hospitals and clinics. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate the costs over its estimated useful life of 4.5 years.

Loyalty program
Loyalty program is operated by the Group to generate a base of customers to provide the Group with repeat sales over
the forecast period. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the costs over its estimated
useful life of 6.5 years.

Computer Software
Acquired computer software is capitalized and it amortised using the straight-line basis over the useful life of 3 years.

Internally
Useful lives Amortisation method generated or acquired

Licenses and permits 5 to 20 years Amortised on a straight-line basis  Acquired
Trade name Infinite No amortisation Acquired
Customer and supplier relations 10 to 15.5 years Amortised on a straight-line basis  Acquired
Hospital relations 4.5 years Amortised on a straight-line basis  Acquired
Loyalty program 6.5 years Amortised on a straight-line basis  Acquired
Computer software 3 years Amortised on a straight-line basis  Acquired
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.5 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition are accounted for, as follows:

 Raw materials and packing materials: purchase cost on weighted average basis; and
 Finished goods and work-in-progress: cost of direct materials and labour and a proportion of manufacturing

overheads based on the normal operating capacity but excluding borrowing costs.

Inventories are initially valued at standard cost, which approximates to historical cost determined on a weighted
average basis. At the reporting date, the management determines the variances between the actual cost and the
standard cost of the inventory items and recognise the variances within the cost of goods sold.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Raw materials and packing materials held for use in the production of inventories are not written down below cost if
the final finished goods in which they are to be used is expected to be sold at or above cost.

The Group reviews the inventory quantities on hand and recognises a provision for those inventories no longer deemed
to be fully recoverable. The cost of inventories may no longer be recoverable if those inventories are slow moving,
discontinued, defective due to quality issues, damaged, if they become obsolete, expired, or if their selling prices or
estimated forecast of product demand decline. If actual market conditions are less favourable than previously
projected, or if liquidation of the inventory which is no longer deemed to be fully recoverable is more difficult than
anticipated, additional provisions are recognised.

Goods-in-transit
Goods-in-transit are valued at purchase price, freight value and other charges incurred thereon up to the reporting
date.

Spare parts and consumables
Spare parts and consumables that are acquired as part of an equipment purchase and only to be used in connection
with this specific equipment and are integral to the functionality of the related equipment are capitalised and amortised
as part of that equipment when used. In all other cases, spare parts and consumables are carried as inventory and
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as consumed.

Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset's
recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's (CGU) fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount
of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its
recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available.
If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated
by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded entities or other available fair value indicators.

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations which are prepared
separately for each of the Group’s cash-generating units to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets
and forecast calculations are generally covering a period of five years. For longer periods, a long-term growth rate is
calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year.

Impairment losses of continuing operations, including impairment on inventories, are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in those expense categories consistent with the function
of the impaired asset.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.5 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the
asset's or cash-generating unit's recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there
has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss
was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable
amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal is
treated as a revaluation increase.

Leases
Right-of-use assets
The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentives received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the
end of the lease term, the recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term as follows.

Life
Offices and pharmacies 1 to 10 years

Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment.

Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate.

The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on which
the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the
lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a
change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in
an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the lease of low-
value assets recognition exemption to leases that are considered of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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3.5 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity.

i) Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give
rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This
assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash
flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

The Group’s financial assets include bank balances, trade receivables other receivables, receivable from a divested
subsidiary and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets fair value though other
comprehensive income.

Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in the following categories:

 Financial assets at amortised cost
 Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses
 Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon

derecognition
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at amortised cost
This category is the most relevant to the Group. The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the
following conditions are met:

 The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are subject
to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

The Group’s bank balances, trade receivables and other receivables and receivable from a divested subsidiary are
financial assets measured at amortised cost.
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3.5 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

i) Financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated
upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at
fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or
repurchasing in the near term. Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at
fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

This category includes an unquoted investment which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through OCI.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair
value with net changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Dividends on investments are recognised as other income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established.

Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI (equity instruments)
Upon initial recognition, the Company can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments
designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as investment
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, except when the Company
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are
recorded in OCI. Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI are not subject to impairment assessment.

The Group elected to classify irrevocably its listed equity investment under this category.

Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

 The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
 The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay

the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control
of the asset

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.
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3.5 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

i) Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within
the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL’s at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. The expected credit losses are
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering
the contractual cash flows.

ii) Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net
of directly attributable transaction costs. The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables and accruals, bank
borrowings and lease liabilities.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
The Group has no financial liability classified at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)
This is the category most relevant to the Group. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation
process.  Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

This category generally applies to bank borrowings, trade payables, accruals and lease liabilities.
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3.5 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

ii) Financial liabilities (continued)

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

iii) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and the Group intends to
settle on a net basis.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps, to hedge its interest rate risks. Such
derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the fair
value is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

 Fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or
an unrecognised firm commitment

 Cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction or the
foreign currency risk in an unrecognised firm commitment

 Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to
which it wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge.

The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the risk being
hedged and how the Group will assess whether the hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements
(including the analysis of sources of hedge ineffectiveness and how the hedge ratio is determined). A hedging
relationship qualifies for hedge accounting if it meets all of the following effectiveness requirements:

 There is ‘an economic relationship’ between the hedged item and the hedging instrument.
 The effect of credit risk does not ‘dominate the value changes’ that result from that economic relationship.
 The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item

that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to hedge
that quantity of hedged item.

Hedges that meet all the qualifying criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for, as described below:

Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in OCI in the cash flow hedge reserve,
while any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss. The cash flow hedge reserve
is adjusted to the lower of the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument and the cumulative change in fair
value of the hedged item.

The amount accumulated in OCI is reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment in the same period or
periods during which the hedged cash flows affect profit or loss.
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3.5 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)
If cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued, the amount that has been accumulated in OCI must remain in
accumulated OCI if the hedged future cash flows are still expected to occur. Otherwise, the amount will be
immediately reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. After discontinuation, once the hedged cash
flow occurs, any amount remaining in accumulated OCI must be accounted for depending on the nature of the
underlying transaction as described above.

Bank balances and cash
Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and
short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of three months or less, that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, bank balances and cash consist of cash and short-term
deposits.

Employee’s end of service benefits
Employees’ benefits to non-UAE nationals’ employees
Accruals are made for employees in the UAE for estimated liability for their entitlement to annual leave and leave
passage as a result of services rendered up to the statement of financial position date. Provision is also made, for the
end of service benefits, using actuarial techniques, due to employees in accordance with the Labour Law of the
counties in which they reside for their periods of service up to the statement of financial position date.

The accruals relating to annual leave and leave passage is disclosed as a current liability, while the provision relating
to end of service benefits is disclosed as a non-current liability.

Pension and social security policy with the UAE
The Group is a member of the pension scheme operated by the federal Pension General and Social Security Authority.
Contributions for eligible UAE national employees are made and charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss in accordance with the provisions of the applicable law. The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contribution has been paid. The Group has categorized the contribution policy as defined contribution plan.

Taxes
Current tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those
that are enacted or substantively enacted, by the reporting date, in the countries where the Group operates and
generates taxable income.

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where
appropriate.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

 Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss,

 In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests
in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Taxes (continued)
Deferred tax (continued)
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:

 Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss,

 In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred items are
recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authority.

Zakat
Zakat is calculated by the Group in accordance with the Regulations of the General Authority of Zakat and Tax
(“GAZT”) in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and on an accrual basis. The provision is charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.  Differences, if any, resulting from the final assessments are adjusted in the year of their
finalisation.

Foreign currencies
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in AED, which is also the Parent’s functional currency.
For each entity, the Group determines the functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. The Group uses the direct method of consolidation and on disposal
of a foreign operation, the gain or loss that is reclassified to profit or loss reflects the amount that arises from using
this method.

i) Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s entities at their respective functional currency
spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting date.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss with the exception
of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment in a foreign operation. These
are recognised in OCI until the net investment is disposed of, at which time, the cumulative amount is reclassified to
profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are also recognised
in OCI.
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Foreign currencies (continued)
i) Transactions and balances (continued)
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising on
translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in OCI or profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of
it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to advance consideration, the date
of the transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognizes the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability
arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of advance consideration.

ii) Group companies
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into AED at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of profit or loss are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognised in OCI. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the component of OCI relating to that particular foreign operation is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the spot rate of exchange at the reporting date.

Effective 1 January 2022, on adoption of IAS 29, the financial statements of the subsidiary, having operations in
Ethiopia, has been adjusted for the effects of inflation as per the requirements of IAS 29. Hence, the subsidiary’s
assets, liabilities, income and expenses are expressed in AED using exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date.
Refer to note 35 for the details.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations
The Group classifies non-current assets and disposal groups as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Non-current assets and disposal groups
classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Costs to
sell are the incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset (disposal group), excluding finance costs
and income tax expense.

The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset or
disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Actions required to complete the sale should
indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to the sale will be made or that the decision to sell will be withdrawn.
Management must be committed to the plan to sell the asset and the sale expected to be completed within one year
from the date of the classification.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are not depreciated or amortised once classified as held for sale.

Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately as current items in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

A disposal group qualifies as discontinued operation if it is a component of an entity that either has been disposed of,
or is classified as held for sale, and:

 Represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations
 Is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of

operations
 Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale
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Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations (continued)
Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as a single amount
as profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily
takes a substantial period of time to get ready are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.  Other borrowing costs
are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has an obligation (legal or constructive) arising from a past event, and the
costs to settle the obligation are both probable and able to be reliably measured and presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

Cash dividend
The Company recognises a liability to pay a dividend when the distribution is authorised and the distribution is no
longer at the discretion of the Company. As per the corporate laws of UAE, a distribution is authorised when it is
approved by the shareholders. A corresponding amount is recognised directly in equity.

Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements. They are disclosed unless the
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. A contingent asset is not recognised
in the consolidated financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

3.6 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that may affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the accompanying
disclosures and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

Judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements which
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Spare parts and consumables as inventory
The Group has determined that it has very large number of minor items of spare parts and consumables and concluded
that these items are recognised as inventory. These are expensed out when consumed.

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options – Group as lessee
The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by
an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate
the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The Group applies judgement
in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease.
That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or
termination. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change
in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to
terminate (e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements or significant customisation to the leased asset).
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3.6 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options – Group as lessee (continued)
The Group included the renewal period as part of the lease term for leases of plant and machinery with shorter non-
cancellable period (i.e., three to five years). The Group typically exercises its option to renew for these leases because
there will be a significant negative effect on production if a replacement asset is not readily available. The renewal
periods for leases of plant and machinery with longer non-cancellable periods (i.e., 10 to 15 years) are not included
as part of the lease term as these are not reasonably certain to be exercised. In addition, the renewal options for leases
of motor vehicles are not included as part of the lease term because the Group typically leases motor vehicles for not
more than five years and, hence, is not exercising any renewal options. Furthermore, the periods covered by
termination options are included as part of the lease term only when they are reasonably certain not to be exercised.

Assets held for sale
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group has classified its 55% of shareholding of Julphar
Pharmaceutical PLC (“Julphar Ethiopia”) as assets held for sale. The Board considered the subsidiary to meet the
criteria to be classified as held for sale at that date for the following reasons:

 Julphar Ethiopia is available for immediate sale and can be sold to the buyer in its current condition
 The actions to complete the sale were initiated and expected to be completed within one year from the date of

initial classification
 The management is committed to sell the asset and an active programme to locate a buyer has already been

initiated.

For more details on discontinued operations refer note 12.

Classification of financial assets
The classification of financial assets is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed
and its contractual cash flow characteristics. The Group makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in
which an asset is held because this best reflects the way the business is managed, and information is provided to the
management. The information considered included:

 the stated policies and objectives for the financial asset and the operation of those policies in practise;
 how the performance of the financial asset is evaluated and reported to the Group's management;
 the risks that affect the performance of the business mode (and the financial assets held within that business

model) and how those risks are managed; and
 the frequency, volume and time of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations about

future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an
overall assessment of how the Group’s stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how
cash flows are realised.

Estimates and assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available
when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future
developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of
the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

Provision for stock losses
The Group's management determines the amount of provision for stock as follows:

1. Raw materials - Raw materials with near expiry are assessed for use in the production or for any alternative options.
If the raw materials are deemed not to be usable, provision for expiry is recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.6 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Estimates and assumptions (continued)

Provision for stock losses (continued)
2. Packaging materials - Packaging materials which are for discontinued products or inactive are assessed for any
other alternative options. If the packaging materials are deemed not to be usable, provision is recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

3. Finished Goods – (a) Manufacturing segment - finished goods with less than 1/3 year shelf life are deemed not to
be usable or sold in the market as per regulations in which the Group operates. Full provision for finished goods with
less than 1/3 shelf life is recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position.  (b) Planet segment - full
provision is required for finished goods with less than 90 days shelf life for the stock existed in the retail pharmacies
and 180 days for the stock existed in the wholesale warehouses. For individually significant amounts this estimation
is performed on an individual basis.  Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are old or obsolete,
are assessed collectively and a provision is applied according to the inventory type and the degree of ageing or
obsolescence, based on historical selling prices.

4. Other inventories – Includes goods in transit, consumables, work-in-progress, and spare parts are assessed for
obsolescence or for any other alternative uses. If these are deemed not to be usable/obsolete, provision is recorded in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

At the reporting date, provision for stock losses were AED 60.7 million (2022: AED 46.7 million) (note 16). Any
difference between the amounts actually realised in future periods and the amounts expected will be recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Fair value of financial instruments
When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position cannot be measured based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation
techniques including the dividend growth mode (“DGM”). The inputs to these models are taken from observable
markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values.
Judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions
relating to these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which
is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal calculations
are based on available data from binding sales transactions, for similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs of disposing of the asset and using cost approach adjusted for obsolescence that market participant
buyers would consider. The value in use calculation is based on a DCF model. The cash flows are derived from the
budget for the next five years and do not include restructuring activities that the Group is not yet committed to or
significant future investments that will enhance the performance of the assets of the CGU being tested.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives of its property, plant and equipment for calculating
depreciation.  This estimate is determined after considering the expected usage of the asset or physical wear and tear.
The Group’s management reviews the residual value and useful lives annually and future depreciation charge would
be adjusted where the Group’s management believes the useful lives differ from previous estimates.

Provision for expected credit losses on financial assets
When measuring ECL, probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of default is an
estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data,
assumptions and expectations of future conditions.

Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from collateral and
integral credit enhancements.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.6 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Estimates and assumptions (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on financial assets (continued)
When measuring ECL, the Group uses reasonable and supportable forward-looking information, which is based on
assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect each other.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs
is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic
conditions. The operation’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of customer’s actual default in the future.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable
profits.

Estimating sales return liability
The Group estimates the sales return liability based on historic data of past 3 years by analysing sales return on a
monthly basis and by using a statistical model for forecasting sales returns. The model uses the historical return data
of each product to come up with expected return percentages. These percentages are applied to determine the expected
value of the sales return liability.

Estimating volume rebates
The Group’s expected volume rebates are analysed on a per customer basis for contracts that are subject to a single
volume threshold. Determining whether a customer will be likely entitled to rebate will depend on the customer’s
historical rebates entitlement and accumulated purchases to date.

The Group applied the statistical model for estimating expected volume rebates for contracts with more than one
volume threshold. The model uses the historical purchasing patterns and rebates entitlement of customers to determine
the expected rebate percentages and the expected value of the variable consideration. Any significant changes in
experience as compared to historical purchasing patterns and rebate entitlements of customers will impact the
expected rebate percentages estimated by the Group.

The Group updates its assessment of expected volume rebates quarterly and the rebates accruals are adjusted
accordingly. Estimates of volume rebates are sensitive to changes in circumstances and the Group’s past experience
regarding rebate entitlements may not be representative of customers’ actual rebate entitlements in the future. As at
31 December 2023, the amount recognised as accruals for the volume rebates was AED 19.9 million (2022: AED
18.7 million).

Estimating the incremental borrowing rate for lease
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental borrowing
rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over
a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market
interest rates etc.) when available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the Group’s
economic environment).

Useful lives of intangible assets
The Group’s management estimates the useful lives of intangible assets based on the period during which the assets
are expected to be available for use and also estimates their recoverability to assess if there has been an impairment.
The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for amortization and impairments of intangible assets for any period
are affected by these estimates.  The estimates are reviewed at least annually and are updated if expectations change
as a result of commercial obsolescence, generic threats and legal or other limits to use. It is possible that changes in
these factors may cause significant changes in the estimated useful lives of the Company’s intangible assets in the
future.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.6 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Estimates and assumptions (continued)

Hyperinflation
The Group exercises significant judgement in determining the onset of hyperinflation in countries in which it operates
and whether the functional currency of its subsidiary is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy.

Various characteristics of the economic environment of each country are taken into account. These characteristics
include, but are not limited to, whether:

 the general population prefers to keep its wealth in non -monetary assets or in a relatively stable foreign
currency;

 prices are quoted in a relatively stable foreign currency;
 sales or purchase prices take expected losses of purchasing power during a short credit period into account;
 interest rates, wages and prices are linked to a price index; and
 the cumulative inflation rate over three years is approaching, or exceeds, 100%.

Management exercises judgement as to when a restatement of the consolidated financial statements of a Group
becomes necessary. Following management’s assessment, the Group’s subsidiary, operating in Ethiopia have been
accounted for as entities operating in hyperinflationary economies. The results, cash flows and financial positions of
Ethiopian subsidiary have been expressed in terms of the measuring units current at the reporting date.

The economy of Ethiopia was assessed to be hyperinflationary during 2023, and hence hyperinflation accounting has
been applied.

The cumulative impact of adjusting the Group’s results for the effects of hyperinflation is set out in note 35.

4. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

4.1 Disaggregated revenue information

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Gross sales 1,700.0 1,667.7
Less: commission (46.9) (35.1)

──────── ────────
Net Sales 1,653.1 1,632.6
Less: net sales relating to discontinued operations (note 12(a)) (15.1) (16.5)

──────── ────────
1,638.0 1,616.1

════════ ════════
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4, REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (continued)

4,1 Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The Group derives its revenue from sale of medicines, drugs and various other types of pharmaceuticals and medical
compounds in addition to cosmetic compounds. The revenue is recognised on the basis of at “point in time” revenue
recognition criteria. The geographical split of gross revenue is as follows:

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions
Geographic information
  UAE 608.3 573.2
  Other GCC countries 744.3 632.5
  Other countries 300.5 426.9

──────── ────────
1,655.7 1,632.6

Less: net sales relating to discontinued operations (note 12(b)) (15.1) (16.5)
──────── ────────

1,638.0 1,616.1
════════ ════════

4.2 Contract balances

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions
Contract assets
  Trade receivables (note 19) 530.5 553.3

════════ ════════

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions
Contract liabilities
  Refund liabilities (note 25) 68.4 51.2
  Rebate and accruals (note 25) 19.9 18.7
  Advances from customers (note 25) 1.5 1.5
  Commissions payable (note 25) 22.9 30.6

──────── ────────
112.7 102.0

════════ ════════

4.3 Performance obligations

The performance obligation on sales of goods is satisfied upon delivery and payment is generally due within 6 to 12
months from delivery.

The Group generally grants its customers the right of return within a period of 14 days from the date of purchase only
for non-medicine items in retail sales. However, the Group does not record a provision for sales returns in retail sales
as these returns are insignificant to overall consolidated financial statements.
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5. COST OF REVENUE

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Raw materials consumed and third-party purchases 837.5 789.1
Salaries and wages 112.2 109.7
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 14(b)) 63.8 62.5
Consumption of laboratory items 45.7 63.3
Electricity and water 27.9 29.1
Others 9.8 13.4

──────── ────────
1,096.9 1,067.1

Less: cost of sales relating to discontinued operations (note 12(b)) (7.6) (8.9)
──────── ────────

1,089.3 1,058.2
════════ ════════

6. OTHER INCOME

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Liabilities written back (note below) 1.5 39.0
Cafeteria operating income - 1.3
Exchange gain - 0.2
Other income 10.9 8.5

──────── ────────
12.4 49.0

════════ ════════

In 2023 and 2022, the Company has written off certain liabilities which are no longer required.

7. SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Salaries, wages and related expenditures 208.2 186.9
Advertisement and promotion 61.9 64.5
Research and development expenditures 19.4 20.7
Sales expenses 16.5 7.5
Variable lease payment recognised as rent expenses (note 29(c)) 12.9 17.1
Freight charges 12.1 19.7
Scrapping 10.7 16.6
Allowance for expected credit losses 12.7 7.0
Marketing materials 4.0 5.4
Product registration 3.2 4.5
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 14(b)) 2.4 2.4
Penalties on sales 1.1 -
Others 24.0 15.7

──────── ────────
389.1 368.0

Less: selling and distribution expenses relating to discontinued operations
  (note 12(b)) (0.9) (0.7)

──────── ────────
388.2 367.3

════════ ════════
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8. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Salaries, wages and related expenditures 68.5 88.6
Depreciation of right of use assets (note 29(a)) 42.2 36.9
Legal and professional 28.7 22.1
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 15) 18.6 18.8
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 14(b)) 14.6 11.4
Utilities 10.3 9.5
Value added tax expense 5.9 5.5
Bank charges and commission 4.0 3.9
Services 2.1 2.8
Loss on exchange 1.1 1.6
Transportation and visa charges 0.9 2.6
Others 12.2 25.9

──────── ────────
209.1 229.6

Less: general and administrative expenses relating to
  discontinued operations (note 12(b)) - (0.6)

──────── ────────
209.1 229.0

════════ ════════

9. FINANCE INCOME

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Interest income on fixed deposits 6.0 3.6
════════ ════════

10. FINANCE COSTS

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Interest on bank and other loans 49.7 32.6
Interest on bank overdraft 6.8 0.7
Interest on lease liabilities (note 29(b)) 6.1 5.5
Amortisation of time value of money relating to interest rate cap (note 33) 1.4 1.3

──────── ────────
64.0 40.1

════════ ════════
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11. INCOME TAX AND ZAKAT

The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are:

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions
Current income tax
Current year 6.6 5.3

──────── ────────
Deferred tax charge/ (credit)
Current year charge/ (credit) 4.7 (0.7)

──────── ────────
Total income tax charge reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 11.3 4.6

Less: income tax expense relating to discontinued operations (note 12(b)) (2.1) (1.8)
──────── ────────

9.2 2.8
════════ ════════

Components of deferred tax are as follows:
2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Difference in accounting and tax base of intangible assets 62.7 14.2
──────── ────────

Deferred tax liability 8.0 3.3
──────── ────────

Deferred tax asset mainly on account temporary differences 0.8 0.6
──────── ────────

Total deferred tax liabilities, net (7.2) (2.7)
════════ ════════

A significant part of the Group’s operations are carried out in non-taxable jurisdictions and presently the Group’s
operations in the UAE are not subject to corporate tax (note 34). However, the Group’s operations in other countries
including Egypt, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, Sultanate of Oman and Ethiopia are subject to taxation at the rates
applicable in the respective countries.

12. DISPOSAL GROUPS HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

a) Julphar Pharmaceuticals P.L.C.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board of Directors of the Company decided to sell Julphar
Pharmaceuticals P.L.C. (“Julphar Ethiopia”). The sale of Julphar Ethiopia is expected to be completed within a year
from the reporting date. As at 31 December 2023, the Board of Directors has renewed its intention to sell Julphar
Ethiopia. Accordingly, Julphar Ethiopia has been classified as a disposal group held for sale and as a discontinued
operation.

With Julphar Ethiopia being classified as a discontinued operation, the results of Julphar Ethiopia have not been
presented in the segment information (note 28). There was no write-down of carrying amount immediately before
and after the classification of the disposal group as held for sale. The comparative consolidated statement of
comprehensive income of the Group has been represented to show the discontinued operation of Julphar Ethiopia
separately from continuing operations in 2023 and 2022.
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12. DISPOSAL GROUPS HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

a) Julphar Pharmaceuticals P.L.C. (continued)

The net cash flows generated by Julphar Ethiopia are as follows:

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Operating 8.8 8.7
Financing (3.2) (0.2)

──────── ────────
Net cash outflow 5.6 8.5

════════ ════════
Basic and diluted profit/ (loss) per share
Basic and diluted profit/ (loss) per share is disclosed in note 13.

b) The results of the discontinued operation for the year are presented below:

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Revenue from contracts with customers 15.1 16.5
Cost of sales (7.6) (8.9)

──────── ────────
Gross profit 7.5 7.6
Selling and distribution expenses (0.9) (0.7)
General and administrative expenses - (0.6)

──────── ────────
Operating profit 6.6 6.3
Hyperinflation adjustment on net monetary position (note 35) (3.1) (9.5)

──────── ────────
Profit/ (loss) before tax for the year 3.5 (3.2)
Income tax expense (2.1) (1.8)

──────── ────────
PROFIT/ (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 1.4 (5.0)

Other comprehensive income
Hyperinflation adjustment 3.5 16.8
Currency translation differences (4.2) (1.6)

──────── ────────
Total other comprehensive (loss)/ income for the year (0.7) 15.2

──────── ────────
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 0.7 10.2

════════ ════════



Gulf Pharmaceutical Industries P.S.C.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2023

46

12. DISPOSAL GROUPS HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

b) The results of the discontinued operation for the year are presented below (continued):

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions
Loss attributable to:

Equity holders of the Parent 0.8 (2.7)
Non-controlling interests 0.6 (2.3)

──────── ────────
1.4 (5.0)

════════ ════════

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions
Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Equity holders of the Parent 0.4 5.6
Non-controlling interests 0.3 4.6

──────── ────────
0.7 10.2

════════ ════════

c) The major classes of assets and liabilities of the disposal group classified as held for sale as at 31 December
2023 are as follows:

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions
ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 9.1 9.6
Inventories 4.2 4.8
Trade and other receivables 1.5 2.9
Bank balances and cash 21.6 17.0

──────── ────────
Assets held for sale 36.4 34.3

──────── ────────
LIABILITIES
Trade payables and accruals 7.6 6.8
Income tax payable 2.1 1.6

──────── ────────
Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale 9.7 8.4

──────── ────────
Net assets directly associated with assets held for sale 26.7 25.9
Less: net assets attributable to non-controlling interests (note 32) (12.0) (11.7)

──────── ────────
Group’s share of net assets directly associated with disposal group 14.7 14.2

════════ ════════
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13. BASIC/ DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE (EPS)

a) Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the Parent by the
weighted average number of outstanding shares during the year.

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Profit/ (loss) for the year attributable to the equity holders of the Parent:
Continuing operations (99.9) (26.7)
Discontinued operations 0.8 (2.7)

──────── ────────
Loss for the year attributable to the equity holders of the Parent (99.1) (29.4)

──────── ────────
Weighted average number of shares 1,155.3 1,155.3

──────── ────────
Basic loss per share attributable to the equity holders of the Parent (in UAE fils) (8.6) (2.5)

════════ ════════
Basic loss per share from continuing operations attributable to the equity

holders of the Parent (in UAE fils) (8.6) (2.3)
════════ ════════

b) To calculate EPS for discontinued operations, the weighted average number of shares is as per the table above.
The following table provides the profit amount used:

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Profit/ (loss) for the year attributable to the equity holders of the Parent
from discontinued operations 0.8 (2.8)

════════ ════════
Basic profit/ (loss) per share from discontinued operations attributable to the

equity holders of the Parent (in UAE fils) 0.1 (0.2)
════════ ════════

c) The Group does not have any potential equity shares and accordingly the basic and diluted earnings per share
is the same.
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14. PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Capital -

Plant and Motor Furniture Tools and Leasehold work-in
Land Buildings machinery Installations vehicles and fixtures equipment improvements progress Total
AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED

millions millions millions millions millions millions millions millions millions millions
Cost
  At 1 January 2022 3.7  505.6  1,082.3  130.8  31.5  30.0  7.1  13.5  20.3  1,824.8
  Additions -  2.1  12.4  2.3  2.8  12.0  2.8  6.4  22.9  63.7
  Transfer from CWIP -  0.4  6.6  3.8  0.1  0.7  0.1 -  (11.7) -
  Disposals - - - -  (0.4) - - -  (0.1)  (0.5)
  Write offs - - - - -  (1.8)  (0.2)  (0.2) -  (2.2)
  Exchange differences - -  (0.1) - - - - - -  (0.1)

──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ────────
  At 31 December 2022 3.7  508.1  1,101.2  136.9  34.0  40.9  9.8  19.7  31.4  1,885.7
  Additions - -  5.8  0.7  0.5  5.2  2.9  2.5  4.5  22.1
  Transfer from CWIP - -  19.0  2.4 -  0.3 - -  (21.7) -
  Disposals - -  (1.0) -  (1.2) -  (0.1) - -  (2.3)

──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ────────
 At 31 December 2023 3.7  508.1  1,125.0  140.0  33.3  46.4  12.6  22.2  14.2  1,905.5

──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ────────
Depreciation and impairment
  At 1 January 2022 -  266.2  734.1  121.1  30.4  17.5  0.9  9.3  -  1,179.5
  Charge for the year (note (b)) -  17.5  45.7  3.4  0.8  3.2  2.4  3.3 -  76.3
  Disposals - - - -  (0.4) - - - -  (0.4)
  Write offs - - - - -  (1.7)  (0.2)  (0.2) -  (2.1)

──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ────────
  At 31 December 2022 -  283.7  779.8  124.5  30.8  19.0  3.1  12.4 -  1,253.3
  Charge for the year (note (b)) -  17.5  47.0  3.4  1.0  4.8  3.4  3.7 -  80.8
  Disposals - -  (1.0) -  (1.1) -  (0.2) - -  (2.3)
  Exchange differences - - - - - -  0.1 - -  0.1

──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ────────
  At 31 December 2023 -  301.2  825.8  127.9  30.7  23.8  6.4  16.1  -  1,331.9

──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ────────
  Net book value:
  At 31 December 2023 3.7  206.9  299.2  12.1  2.6  22.6  6.2  6.1  14.2  573.6

════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════

  At 31 December 2022 3.7  224.4  321.4  12.4  3.2  21.9  6.7  7.3  31.4  632.4
════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════
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14. PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

a) Certain property, plant and equipment of the Group are mortgaged against bank facilities (note 24).

b) The above depreciation charge has been allocated in the consolidated statement of income as follows:

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Cost of sales (note 5) 63.8 62.5
General and administrative expenses (note 8) 14.6 11.4
Selling and distribution expenses (note 7) 2.4 2.4

──────── ────────
80.8 76.3

════════ ════════

c) The factory and its related buildings of the Parent Company are constructed on plots of land amounting to
AED 3.7 million (2022: AED 3.7 million) which are owned by the Government of Ras Al Khaimah.

d) Capital work-in-progress mainly includes significant modification/enhancement of plant of the Parent
Company.

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Licenses Trade
and name  Supplier Customers Loyalty Hospital

permits (note (a)) relations relations program relations Others Total
AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED

millions millions millions millions millions millions millions millions
Cost:
At 1 January 2022 33.4  53.2  26.8  35.6  22.2  35.5  7.7  214.4
Additions 1.7 - - - - - -  1.7

─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ───────
At 31 December 2022 35.1  53.2  26.8  35.6  22.2  35.5  7.7  216.1
Additions 4.9 - - - - - -  4.9
Exchange differences  0.1 - - - - - -  0.1

─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ───────
At 31 December 2023 40.1  53.2  26.8  35.6  22.2  35.5  7.7  221.1

─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ───────
Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 January 2022 21.3  - 0.9  1.8  1.7  3.9  7.6  37.2
Charge for the year (note 8) 2.1 -  1.7  3.6  3.4  7.9  0.1  18.8
Foreign currency translation
difference 1.8 - - - - - -   1.8

─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ───────
At 31 December 2022 25.2 -  2.6  5.4  5.1  11.8  7.7   57.8
Charge for the year (note 8) 2.0 -  1.7  3.6  3.4  7.9 -  18.6
Foreign currency
translation difference 0.9 - - - - - -  0.9

─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ───────
At 31 December 2023 28.1 -  4.3  9.0  8.5  19.7  7.7  77.3

─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ───────
Net book value:
At 31 December 2023 12.0  53.2  22.5  26.6  13.7  15.8 -  143.8

═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════
At 31 December 2022 9.9  53.2  24.2  30.2  17.1  23.7 -   158.3

═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════

a) In 2021, the Group acquired an additional 60% in Planet Pharmacies LLC (“Planet”) and the Group
consequently recognised certain trade names with an indefinite useful life. An impairment test was performed
by management in compliance with the standards wherein any indefinite life intangible asset is tested for
impairment irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment as at reporting date.
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15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment testing of trade name
Impairment testing of the trade name was conducted at the level of the asset itself. The recoverable amount was
determined based on the fair value of the trade name calculated using the relief from royalty method using the revenue
generated from the trade name.

Key assumptions
2023 2022

Royalty rate 1.75% 1.75%
Maintenance fee 5% 5%
Growth rate 7% 7%
Terminal year growth rate 3.4% to 5.4% 2.4% to 5.2%%
Discount rate 14.3% to 16.9% 14.1% to 18.1%

Sensitivity to changes in key assumptions
Management believes that any reasonably possible changes in key assumptions used to determine the recoverable
amount will not result in any impairment of the trade name.

Management has adequately evaluated its future cash flows and other key assumptions and believes that the likelihood
of the carrying value of the CGU exceeding their recoverable amounts is remote.

Changes made in the key assumptions as detailed below, considering all other variables are constant will change the
estimated recoverable amount equal to its carrying amount:

Key assumptions
2023 2022

Royalty rate 1.3% 1.4%
Maintenance fee 25% 21%
Discount rate 17.9% to 21.1% 16.2% to 19.1%

For the growth rate and terminal growth rate, only when there is a declining rate for the year ended 31 December
2023 and 31 December 2022 that the estimated recoverable amount will equal to its carrying amount.

16. INVENTORIES

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Raw materials (note (b)) 143.6 134.2
Packing materials (note (b)) 57.1 60.4
Work-in-progress 15.0 14.5
Finished goods 430.5 439.9
Goods in transit 6.4 1.3
Consumables 29.7 32.0
Spare parts 44.3 42.0

──────── ────────
726.6 724.3

Less: provision for stock losses (note (a)) (60.7) (46.7)
──────── ────────

665.2 677.6
Less: inventories attributable to assets held for sale (note 12(c)) (4.2) (4.8)

──────── ────────
661.7 672.8

════════ ════════
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16. INVENTORIES (continued)

a) The movement in the Group’s provision for stock losses is as follows:

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

At 1 January 46.7 55.7
Charge during the year 47.8 24.0
Written-off during the year (33.8) (33.0)

──────── ────────
At 31 December 60.7 46.7

════════ ════════

b) Includes raw materials and packing materials amounting to AED nil (2022: AED 0.2 million) held by a third
party.

c) Inventories charged to cost of sales amounted to AED 837.5 million (2022: AED 789.1 million) (note 5).

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (FVTPL)

The financial asset at fair value through profit or loss is denominated in AED and is held for trading in the UAE
market amounting to AED 20.5 million (2022: AED 19.5 million).

Movements in financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are as follows:

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

At 1 January 19.5 19.5
Unrealized gain on revaluation for the year 1.0 -

──────── ────────
20.5 19.5

════════ ════════

Investment in unquoted equity security represents investment in an entity which is engaged in manufacturing of
packing materials. The Group has 7.25% equity investment in the entity. Management has performed a valuation and
recorded the investment at fair value. Fair value has been computed using dividend growth model (31 December
2022: dividend growth model). They are classified as level 3 fair values in the fair value hierarchy due to the inclusion
of unobservable inputs including counterparty credit risk (note 30).

18. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(FVTOCI)

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI 0.3 0.3
════════ ════════
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18. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(FVTOCI) (continued)

Movements in fair value of financial asset at FVTOCI during the year are as follows:

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Fair value at the beginning of the year 0.3 -
Additions during the year - 7.3
Unrealized loss on revaluation for the year - (7.0)

──────── ────────
0.3 0.3

════════ ════════

As of 31 December 2023, the Group recognized a negative fair value reserve of AED 7.0 million (2022: AED 7.0
million).

Investment in quoted equity security represents investment in an entity which is engaged in development of innovative
medicines to combat cardiovascular diseases. The Group holds non-controlling interests of 2.2% in the entity. The
investment was irrevocably designated at fair value through OCI as the Group considers the investment to be strategic
in nature. They are classified as level 1 fair values in the fair value hierarchy (note 30).

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Trade receivables 710.6 731.9
Less: allowance for expected credit losses (note (a)) (180.1) (178.6)

──────── ────────
530.5 553.3

Advances to suppliers 46.2 42.4
Prepayments 14.8 16.2
Rebates, commission and discount receivable from suppliers 1.6 2.1
Value added tax receivable 13.8 21.1
Other receivables 16.5 11.6

──────── ────────
623.4 646.7

Less: trade and other receivables attributable to assets held for sale (note 12(c)) (1.5) (2.9)
──────── ────────

621.9 643.8
════════ ════════

a) Movement in the provision for expected credit losses during the year was as follows:

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

At 1 January 178.6 172.4
Charge for the year 12.7 7.0
Written off during the year (11.2) (0.8)

──────── ────────
At end of the year 180.1 178.6

════════ ════════
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

b) Information regarding trade receivable is given in credit risk (note 30).

c) A provision has been made for the estimated impairment amounts of trade receivables of AED 180.1 million
(2022: AED 178.6 million). This provision has been determined based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.

d) The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

0 – 180 days 502.1 534.4
181 – 365 days 18.6 58.8
More than 365 days 189.9 138.7

──────── ────────
705.6 731.9

════════ ════════

e) The Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was initially
granted up to the reporting date. The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables are
denominated in AED, USD and EGP.

f) The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of receivables.
The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

20. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Current accounts 160.2  99.0
Short term bank deposits 99.4 7.0
Cash in hand 2.8 3.3

──────── ────────
262.4 109.3

Less: bank balances and cash attributable to assets held for sale (note 12(c)) (21.6) (17.0)
──────── ────────

Bank balances and cash 240.8 92.3

Less: term deposits having maturities after three months and
less than one year (9.2) (5.9)

──────── ────────
Bank balances and cash 231.6 86.4

════════ ════════

Term deposits carry interest at commercial rates.
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21. SHARE CAPITAL

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions
Authorised, issued and fully paid
  1,155,227,811 ordinary shares (2022: 1,155,227,811 ordinary shares
    at par value of AED 1 1,155.3 1,155.3

════════ ════════

22. STATUTORY RESERVE

In accordance with United Arab Emirates Federal Commercial Companies Law No. 32 of 2021, the Parent Company
has established a statutory reserve by appropriation of 10% of profit for each year. As the Company had accumulated
losses as at 31 December 2023, therefore, no additional appropriation has been made in the statutory reserve. This
reserve is not available for distribution except in the circumstances stipulated by the law.

23. PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE BENEFITS

Movement in the provision for employees’ end of service indemnity is as follows:

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

At 1 January 80.9 79.8
Provided during the year (note (a)) 9.4 13.5
Interest cost (note (a)) 3.6 -
Paid during the year (6.2) (12.4)
Actuarial (gain)/loss (note (b)) (3.7) -

──────── ────────
At 31 December 84.0 80.9

════════ ════════

a) Expenses recognized in consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Provided during the year 9.4 13.5
Interest cost 3.6 -

──────── ────────
At 31 December  13.0 13.5

════════ ════════

b) Expenses recognized in consolidated statement of other comprehensive income:

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Actuarial gain/ (loss) 3.7 -
════════ ════════

In accordance with the provisions of IAS 19, the management has carried out an exercise to assess the present value
of its obligations as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 using actuarial techniques, in respect of employees’ end of service
benefits payable under the UAE labour Law and the Laws applicable in the countries in which the Group operates,
for their periods of service up to the reporting date.
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23. PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE BENEFITS (continued)

Under this method, an assessment has been made of the employees’ expected service life with the Group and the
expected basic salary at the date of leaving the service. Future salary increases have been estimated on a basis
consistent with the natural progression of an employees’ salary in line with the Group’s salary scales, past experience
and market conditions. As part of their assessment, management assumes an average increment / promotion cost and
the expected liability at the date of leaving the service by discounted the liability to its net present value using an
appropriate discount. The discount rate used for the purpose of actuarial valuation was 4.6% to 18.5% (2022: 4.3%
to 24.8%) per annum.

24. BANK BORROWINGS

2023 2022
AED AED

Interest rate(%) Maturity millions millions
Current interest bearing bank

borrowings

Bank overdraft 3m EIBOR+2.0%        On demand 125.4 20.5

Term loans – current portion                        3m EIBOR+2.5% Within 1 year 90.0 37.5
──────── ────────

Total current interest bearing
   loans and borrowings 215.4 58.0

Non-current interest bearing
bank borrowings

Term loan 3m EIBOR+2.5% 28 April 2030 765.0 712.5
──────── ────────

Total interest-bearing bank borrowings 980.4 770.5
════════ ════════

a) During 2021, the Parent Company entered into a syndicated loan arrangement with a consortium of local banks
for a syndicated facility which comprises of Ijarah Term Loan Facility of AED 180 million (31 December
2022: AED 150 million), Conventional Working Capital Finance Facility of AED 260 million (31 December
2022: AED 260 million) and Conventional Term Loan Facility of AED 720 million (31 December 2022: AED
600 million) with total facility size of AED 1.16 billion (31 December 2022: AED 1.01 billion). As of the
reporting date, the Company had an undrawn facility of AED 83.0 million (31 December 2022: AED 214.5
million). The Company obtained an additional AED 150 million from the activated Accordion, during the year
increasing the facility size.

The drawdown term loan of AED 900 million (AED 180 million from Ijarah Facility and AED 720 million
from Conventional Facility) as of the reporting date is payable in quarterly instalments which has started from
30 July 2023.

The Group has obtained AED 1.16 billion banking facilities against the following securities:

 Negative pledge over all assets except or otherwise specified as permitted assets.
 Assignment of insurance policy over its business and assets (including Secured Assets and the assets that

represent Ijara Assets from time to time).
 Assignment of receivables of key customers up to 75% and undertaking to route them annually through

Obligor’s collection account with the Bank.
 General Mortgage over Property, Plant & Equipment and Inventory.
 Corporate guarantee of a subsidiary

The Group’s syndicated loan agreement is subject to covenant clauses, whereby the Company is required to
meet certain key financial ratios on an annual basis. The Group was not in compliance with such covenants at
31 December 2023. However, the Group has obtained the approval from the Financiers for the waiver of
covenant compliance as at 31 December 2023.
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24. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

b) Bank overdraft and trust receipts are repayable on demand/agreed payment dates. In general, such banking
facilities are renewable on a regular basis. Both of these facilities were obtained as part of the AED 1.16 billion
facility. Interest on overdrafts are computed and added to the account on a monthly basis.

c) Movement in borrowings is as follows:

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

At the beginning of the year 770.5 719.4
Add: new drawdowns of the term loan 150.0 85.0
Add: utilization of bank overdraft and trust receipts facility, net 104.9 (33.9)
Less: loans repaid during the year (45.0)  -

──────── ────────
At the end of the year 980.4 770.5

════════ ════════

25. TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Accounts payable 214.9 272.7
Refund liabilities (note 4) 68.4 51.2
Accrued expenses 43.4 44.2
Commissions payable (note 4) 22.9 30.6
Rebate and accruals 19.9 18.7
Employee benefits payable 19.7 21.4
Advances from customers (note 4) 1.5 1.5
Unclaimed dividend - 14.7
Others 44.6 38.8

──────── ────────
435.3 493.8

Less: trade payables and accruals attributable to liability directly
  associated to assets held for sale (note 12(c)) (7.6) (6.8)

──────── ────────
427.7 487.0

════════ ════════

26. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS

Related parties comprise the Company’s major shareholders, key management personnel, subsidiaries, associates,
directors, and other businesses which are controlled directly or indirectly by the shareholders or directors or over
which they exercise significant management influence (hereinafter referred as “affiliates”). In the normal course of
business, the Group has various transactions with its related parties. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions
are approved by the Group’s management, or its Board of Directors.

Transactions with related parties under common ownership and management control are eliminated on consolidation.
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26. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS (continued)

a) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

The remuneration of the key management personnel of the Group is as follows:

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Short-term benefits 14.1 10.4
Post-employment and other long-term benefits 1.4 2.5
Director’s remuneration 1.8 -

──────── ────────
17.3 12.9

════════ ════════

27. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Capital commitments 51.5 18.4
──────── ────────

Letters of credit 10.9 27.7
──────── ────────

Letters of guarantee 30.8 26.5
════════ ════════

28. SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and services and the
following reportable segments:

a. Manufacturing
b. Planet
c. Investments
d. Others

There are no sales between segments during the year.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on net profit or loss and is
measured consistently with operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.

The Board of Directors is also provided with multiple levels of information which comprise of revenue, gross profit
and net profit, aggregated for higher level components (i.e. combination of all products and services) by distribution
and by region.

The financial accounting system of the Group is currently configured in this manner and this information is readily
available. However, for decision making purposes, the Board of Directors rely mainly on the revenue and net profit
information that contains lower level components. Hence, the segment information provided is primarily to the net
profit level of the Group.
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28. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

2023 2022
───────────────────────────────────────────────────────────── ──────────────────────────────────────────────────────────

 Other  Other
Manufacturing Planet Investments segments Eliminations Total Manufacturing Planet Investments segments Eliminations Total

AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED
millions millions millions millions millions millions millions millions millions millions millions millions

Segment revenue 794.4  1,067.2 - -  (223.6)  1,638.0 886.4  1,005.3 - -  (275.6)  1,616.1
────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ──────

Segment result (113.2)   62.3  3.5  (58.0) 5.5    (99.9)  3.2  51.8  2.0  (36.5)  (47.2)  (26.7)
────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ──────

Depreciation
expense of
property, plant
and equipment 68.6  12.2 - - -  80.8 67.1  9.2 - - -  76.3

────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ──────
Depreciation
expense of
right of use assets -  42.2 - - -  42.2 0.2  36.7 - - -  36.9

────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ──────
Amortization
expense 2.0  16.6 - - - 18.6 2.2  16.6 - - -  18.8

────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ──────

2023 2022
───────────────────────────────────────────────────────────── ──────────────────────────────────────────────────────────

 Other  Other
Manufacturing Planet Investments segments Eliminations Total Manufacturing Planet Investments segments Eliminations Total

AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED
millions millions millions millions millions millions millions millions millions millions millions millions

Segment assets 2,405.1 1,438.9  20.8  240.8 (1,688.1) 2,417.5 2,299.1  1,291.6  19.8  92.3  (1,337.7)  2,365.1
────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ──────

Segment liabilities 417.7 477.8 -  980.4 (237.9) 1,638.0  298.8  393.5 -  770.5  (204.9)  1,462.8
────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ──────
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28. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Information by geographical region
In accordance with IFRS 8, non-current assets below are based on the geographical location in which the Group holds
assets. In accordance with IFRS 8, the non-current assets reported below exclude financial instruments.

2023
──────────────────────────────────────────────────────
Total UAE Oman Saudi Arabia Others
AED AED AED AED AED

millions millions millions millions millions
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 573.6  545.3  3.6  24.7  -

──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ────────
Right of use assets 135.5  37.3  9.5  88.4  0.3

──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ────────
Intangible assets 143.8  67.4  9.0  62.8  4.6

──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ────────
Revenue 1,638.0  608.3  128.0  557.5  344.2

──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ────────

2022
──────────────────────────────────────────────────────
Total UAE Oman Saudi Arabia Others
AED AED AED AED AED

millions millions millions millions millions

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 632.4  603.9  3.1  25.3  0.1

──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ────────
Right of use assets  119.9  28.5  10.3  80.9  0.2

──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ────────
Intangible assets 158.3  69.0  9.2  74.1   6.0

──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ────────
Revenue 1,616.1  573.2  126.9 483.6  432.4

──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ────────

The Group has sales to one customer whose sales individually are more than 10% of the total external sales. Total
amount of sales for the year ended 31 December 2023 to this customer amounts to AED 196.9 million (2022: Top 2
customers AED 382.3 million). These revenues are included under manufacturing segment.

There are no other non-current assets included in “Others” which are more than 10% of the total segment non-current
assets. There are no sales in "Others" in 2023 (2022:  AED nil) which is more than 10% of the total sales.
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29. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

The Group has lease contracts for various offices and pharmacies. Leases generally have lease terms between 1 year
and 5 years. The Group’s obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. Generally,
the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets.

a) Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movement during the year are
as follow:

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

At 1 January 119.9 103.7
Additions 42.3 68.3
Remeasurement 16.5 (1.2)
Disposals (1.3) (14.0)
Depreciation (note 8) (42.2) (36.9)
Exchange difference 0.3 -

──────── ────────
135.5 119.9

════════ ════════

b) Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movement during the year are as follow:

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

At 1 January 115.2 99.7
Additions 42.3 68.3
Remeasurement 16.5 (1.2)
Accretion of interest (note 10) 6.1 5.5
Disposals (1.3) (14.3)
Payments (48.6) (42.8)

──────── ────────
130.2 115.2

════════ ════════
Classified in to:
Current 38.6 39.2
Non-current 91.6 76.0

──────── ────────
At 31 December 130.2 115.2

════════ ════════

c) The following are the amounts recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets (note 8) 42.2 36.9
Interest expense on lease liabilities included in finance costs (note 10) 6.0 5.5
Variable lease payment recognised as rent expenses (note 7) 12.9 17.1

──────── ────────
61.1 59.5

════════ ════════
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29. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

The Group had total cash outflows of AED 61.3 million in the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: AED 59.9
million) which relates to payment of lease liabilities including finance expenses component. The weighted average
incremental borrowing rate is used at the rate of 5% per annum as at 31 December 2023 (2022: 5% per annum).

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. These options are negotiated
by management to provide flexibility in managing the leased-asset portfolio and align with the Group’s business
needs. Management exercises significant judgement in determining whether these extension and termination options
are reasonably certain to be exercised. The maturity analysis of lease liabilities are disclosed in note 30.

30. RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, price risk,
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance. Risk management is carried out by the Group’s management.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and other price
risk, such as equity price risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include bank borrowings, trade and other
payables, trade receivables, bank balances and other receivables and investments in equity instruments.

The sensitivity analysis in the following sections relate to the position as at 31 December in 2023 and 2022.

The sensitivity of the relevant consolidated statement of profit or loss item or equity is the effect of the assumed
changes in respective market risks. This is based on the financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31 December
2023 and 2022.

There has been no change to the Group's exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures
the risk.

a) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily
to the Group’s un-hedged debt obligations with floating interest rates.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the consolidated statement of profit or loss to reasonably possible
changes in interest rates, with all other variables held constant.

The sensitivity of the consolidated statement of profit or loss is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on
the Group’s profit for one year, based on the floating rate  financial liabilities held at 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022. The effect of a decrease in interest rates on the variable rate instruments (excluding hedged debt
obligations) is expected to be equal and opposite to the effect of the increases as shown below:

Bank and Increase/ Effect on
other decrease  results

borrowings in basis for the year
AED points AED

millions millions

2023
530.4 +50 2.7

-50 (2.7)

2022
320.5 +50 1.6

-50 (1.6)
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30. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Market risk (continued)

b) Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates
primarily to the Group’s operating activities.

The Group manages its currency risk by regularly assessing current and expected foreign currency exchange rate
movements and Group’s foreign currencies payable.

Foreign exchange risk arises on sales, purchases and recognised assets or liabilities that are primarily denominated in
a currency that is not entity’s functional currency.

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change of the AED currency rate against the
foreign currencies, with all other variables held constant, on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
(due to changes in the fair value of currency sensitive monetary assets and liabilities).

The effect of decreases in currency rates is expected to be equal and opposite to the effect of the increases shown.

Balance Increase Effect on
receivable/ in exchange rate results
(payable) to the AED AED m

2023
Euro (1.0) +5% (0.1)

-5% 0.1

2022
Euro (2.7) +5% (0.1)

-5% 0.1

c) Price risk
The Group’s listed equity securities are susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties about future values
of the investment securities. However, the Group is not exposed to price risk since it has no listed equity securities at
the reporting date.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other
party to incur a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk on its bank balances and receivables as follows.

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold in the ordinary course of business. They are
generally due for settlement within 90 -180 days and therefore are all classified as current. Trade receivables are
recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant financing
components, when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect
the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Details about the Group’s impairment policies is disclosed in note 3.6.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of these receivables. To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The historical loss
rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability
of the customers to settle the receivables. For forward looking factor, long term macroeconomic factor has not been
considered as the maturity of invoices is typically less than one year and accordingly historical rates are adjusted only
on the basis deterioration in the future economic conditions.

The collateral factored through loss given default estimates and hence are not used to adjust exposure while computing
expected credit loss. The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing with counterparties that have credible
market reputation. The Group’s management does not expect any significant counterparty to fail to meet its
obligations.
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30. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

c) Price risk (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision
matrix:

2023
────────────────────────────────────

Allowance
for Expected

Gross expected credit credit
value losses loss
AED AED (ECL)

millions millions

Trade receivables with general provision 574.7  44.2 7.7%
Specific provision for receivables 135.9   135.9 100%

──────── ────────
710.6   180.1

════════ ════════

2022
────────────────────────────────────

Allowance
for Expected

Gross expected credit credit
value losses loss
AED AED (ECL)

millions millions

Trade receivables with general provision 597.6   44.3 7.4%
Specific provision for receivables 134.3 134.3 100%

──────── ────────
731.9   178.6

════════ ════════

Financial instruments and cash deposit
Credit risk from balances with banks and other financial institutions is managed by the Group by investing surplus
funds only with approved and reputable counterparties and within credit limits assigned to each counterparty. Bank
deposits, and term deposits are limited to high-credit-quality financial institutions. Accordingly, the ECL as at the
reporting date against bank balances is minimal. Credit risk on other financial assets are assessed to be minimal based
on historical default and the fact that they are held with counterparties with creditworthiness evaluated to be good by
the Company’s internal process.

Due from related parties and other receivables
For due from related parties and other receivables, the management has separately assessed the balance and the
computed impact is immaterial.

With respect to credit risk arising from other financial assets including deposits and other receivables, the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counter party with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount
of these assets.

Excessive risk concentration
Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the
same geographical region, or have economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to
be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative
sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry.

In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Group’s policies and procedures include specific guidelines to
focus on the maintenance of a diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of credit risks are controlled and
managed accordingly.
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30. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

c) Price risk (continued)

Liquidity risk
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities. The contractual maturities of the
financial liabilities have been determined on the basis of the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual
maturity date. The maturity profile is monitored by management to ensure that adequate liquidity is maintained. The
maturity profile of the liabilities at the reporting date based on contractual repayment arrangements was as follows:

2023
Less than 1 to 5 More than

1 year years 5 years Total
AED AED AED AED

 millions millions millions millions

Trade payables and accruals 435.3 - -     435.3
Bank borrowings 230.1  384.5  432.6  1,047.2
Lease liabilities 44.1  98.0 -  142.1

──────── ──────── ──────── ────────
709.5  482.5  432.6    1,624.6

════════ ════════ ════════ ════════

2022
Less than 1 to 5 More than

1 year years 5 years Total
AED AED AED AED

 millions millions millions millions

Trade payables and accruals 493.8 -  - 493.8
Bank borrowings 61.9  160.2  600.8  822.9
Lease liabilities 43.7 81.4  - 125.1

──────── ──────── ──────── ────────
599.4  241.6  600.8  1,441.8

════════ ════════ ════════ ════════

Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. Consistent with others in the industry,
the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.
Net debt is calculated as bank borrowings (including ‘current and non-current borrowings’ as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position) less bank balances and cash. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus net debt.

The gearing ratio at the year end was as follows:
2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Bank borrowings 980.4 770.5
Less: bank balances and cash (240.8) (92.3)

──────── ────────
Net debt 739.6 678.2

──────── ────────
Total equity 806.2 928.2

──────── ────────
Net debt to equity ratio (times) 0.9 0.7

════════ ════════
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30. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Capital management (continued)
In order to achieve this overall objective, the Group’s capital management, among other things, aims to ensure that it
meets financial covenants attached to the banks and other borrowings that define capital structure requirements.
Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank to immediately call loans and borrowings.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.

31. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. As such, differences can arise between book values and the fair
value estimates. Underlying the definition of fair value is the presumption that the Group is a going concern without
any intention or requirement to materially curtail the scale of its operation or to undertake a transaction on adverse
terms.

Fair value of financial instruments carried at amortised cost
Management considers that the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are not materially different from
their carrying values at reporting date since assets and liabilities not already measured at fair value have either short-
term maturities or in the case of borrowings are frequently repriced and the prevalent interest rates reflect risks
associated with the borrowings.

Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined using similar valuation techniques and
assumptions as used in the annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on recurring basis
Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period.

The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined:

Fair value as at Significant unobservable input
──────────────── ─────────────────────

31 December 31 December Fair Value Valuation techniques 31 December 31 December
2023 2022 hierarchy and key inputs 2023  2022
AED AED

millions millions

Financial assets
Unquoted equity

investments
– FVTPL 20.5 19.5 Level 3 Inputs other than - Cost of equity - Discount rate

quoted prices included - Growth rate - Growth rate
within level 1 that are  - Discount for  - Discount for
observable for the asset  lack of lack of
or liability, either directly  marketability marketability
(that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived
from prices)

Quoted equity
  investments

  – FVOCI 0.3 0.3 Level 1 Quoted prices
(unadjusted in active) - None - None
markets for identical

──────── ──────── assets or liabilities
20.8 19.8

════════ ════════
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31. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Fair value as at Significant unobservable input
──────────────── ─────────────────────

31 December 31 December Fair Value Valuation techniques 31 December 31 December
2023 2022 hierarchy and key inputs 2023  2022
AED AED

millions millions

Derivative financial
instrument
Interest rate
cap 18.6 25.2 Level 2 N/A N/A N/A

════════ ════════

Fair value hierarchy
The following table provides an analysis of financial and non-financial instruments that are measured subsequent to
initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

 Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
 Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement

is directly or indirectly observable
 Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement

is unobservable

32. MATERIAL PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

Financial information of subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests is provided below:

Portion of equity interest held by non-controlling interests:

Place of 2023 2022
 incorporation and Percentage of Percentage of

Name operation ownership ownership

Julphar Pharmaceuticals PLC Ethiopia 55.0% 55.0%

2023 2022
AED AED

millions millions

Accumulated balances of material non-controlling interests:
Julphar Pharmaceuticals PLC (note 12(c)) 12.0 11.7

Profit allocated to material non-controlling interests:
Julphar Pharmaceuticals PLC (note (12(b)) (0.6) (2.3)

The summarised financial information is disclosed in note 12.
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33. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT

During 2021, the Group entered into an “Interest Rate Cap” (“IR Cap”) agreement to hedge its exposure to the
variability in cash flows arising from interest payment on syndicated loans from local banks.

The Company entered into IR Cap, that effectively fix the interest rate on 49% (2022: 68%) of its available facilities.
Under the terms of this contract, the Group pays a floating rate of interest up to the pre-determined capped rate of
interest on the principal balance.

There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument as the terms of the interest
rate cap match the terms of the syndicated loans (i.e., notional amount, maturity, payment and reset dates). The Group
has established a hedge ratio of 1:1 for the hedging relationships as the underlying risk of the interest rate cap is
identical to the hedged risk component. To test the hedge effectiveness, the Group uses the hypothetical derivative
method and compares the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument against the changes in fair value of the
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

The hedge ineffectiveness can arise from:

 Different interest rate curve applied to discount the hedged item and hedging instrument
 Differences in timing of cash flows of the hedged item and hedging instrument
 The counterparties’ credit risk differently impacting the fair value movements of the hedging instrument and

hedged item

For the purpose of hedge accounting, IRS is classified as cash flow hedge. The fair value and notional amount of the
hedge are as follows:

2023 2022
─────────────────── ───────────────────

Positive Notional Positive Notional
Fair value amount fair value amount

AED AED AED AED
Millions millions millions millions

Interest rate cap 18.6 450.0 25.2 450.0
════════ ════════ ════════ ════════

The interest rate cap is assessed to be effective and as at 31 December 2023, an unrealized loss of AED 8.5 million
(2022: unrealized gain of AED 26.9 million) has been included in equity as cash flow hedge reserve.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has reclassified an amount of AED 1.4 million which relates to
the amortisation of the time value of money over the period of the hedge relating to the year (2022: AED 1.3 million).

The amount shown as cash flow hedge reserve under equity as at 31 December 2023 of AED 19.6 million (2022:
negative AED 26.7 million) is mainly expected to affect profit or loss during the period until maturity of IR Cap.

There was no ineffectiveness recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as the same was immaterial to
the overall consolidated financial statements.
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34. CORPORATE INCOME TAX IN THE UAE

On 9 December 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance released Federal Decree-Law No. 47 of 2022 on the Taxation of
Corporations and Businesses (Corporate Tax Law or the Law) to enact a Federal corporate tax (CT) regime in the
UAE.  The CT regime will become effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2023.

Decision No. 116 of 2022 (published in December 2022 and considered to be effective from 16 January 2023)
specifies that taxable income not exceeding AED 375,000 would be subject to a 0% UAE CT rate, and taxable income
exceeding AED 375,000 would be subject to the 9% UAE CT rate. With the publication of this Decision, the UAE
CT Law is considered to have been substantively enacted for the purposes of accounting for Income Taxes.

Subsequently, the UAE CT Law has been supplemented by a number of Decisions of the Cabinet of Ministers of the
UAE (Decisions). Such Decisions and other interpretive guidance of the UAE Federal Tax Authority provide
important details relating to the interpretation of the UAE CT Law and are required to fully evaluate the impact of
the UAE CT Law on the Company.

Based on the current provisions of the UAE CT Law (including interpretation based on the Ministerial decisions and
related guidance) and in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes, the Group has considered related deferred tax
accounting impact as at the reporting date and the Group considers that taxable temporary differences arise in respect
of Purchase Price Allocation (PPA) adjustments carried on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position
and relating to business combination undertaken in UAE prior to 16 January 2023. The Group has recognised a
deferred tax liability of AED 5.4 million relating to such business combination. No other potential deferred tax assets
or liabilities have been identified as at year end date.

The Group will continue to monitor the publication of subsequent decisions and related guidance, as well as
continuing its more detailed review of its financial matters, to consider any changes to the position at subsequent
reporting dates.

35. IAS 29 FINANCIAL REPORTING IN HYPERINFLATIONARY ECONOMIES (‘IAS 29’)

Ethiopia has been determined to be a hyperinflationary economy under IAS 29 with the three-year accumulated
inflation exceeding 100 percent since the year ended 31 December 2022. IAS 29 requires non-monetary assets and
liabilities of the Group’s Ethiopian subsidiary, to be restated to reflect their current prices using the Consumer Pricing
Index (CPI) in the local currency of the reporting unit before translation to the Group’s functional currency.

As at 31 December 2023, the three-year cumulative inflation rate has been 132.6% based on the Ethiopian consumer
price index (‘CPI’). The consumer price index at the beginning of the reporting period was 328.9 points and closed
at 423.3 points resulting in an increase of 28.7%. Qualitative indicators, such as the deteriorating economic condition,
support the conclusion that Ethiopia is a hyperinflationary economy for accounting purposes for year ended 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

Therefore, entities whose functional currency is the Ethiopian Birr, should restate their financial statements to reflect
the effects of inflation in conformity with IAS 29. Such restatement shall be made as if the Ethiopian economy have
always been hyperinflationary; using a general price index that reflects the changes in the currency’s purchasing
power.

As of 31 December 2023, all conditions have been met for the Julphar Pharmaceuticals P.L.C (“Julphar Ethiopia”), a
subsidiary operating in Ethiopia, on such date to incorporate the inflation adjustment provided under IAS 29
“Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies” in their year-end financial statements. IFRS requires that
financial statements of any entity whose functional currency is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy be
restated into the current purchasing power at the end of the reporting period.

 Net non-monetary position (excluding equity) has been indexed by applying the difference in CPI from 31
December 2022 to 31 December 2023 resulting in a loss of AED 0.4 million (2022: AED 0.2 million) in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss to the extent determined to be recoverable.
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35. IAS 29 FINANCIAL REPORTING IN HYPERINFLATIONARY ECONOMIES (‘IAS 29’) (continued)

 Monetary assets and liabilities are already reported at the current measuring unit and are not adjusted for
inflation. However, the CPI index is applied to measure the loss of purchasing power and for the net monetary
position, a hyperinflation adjustment is made in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
amounting to AED 3.1 million (2022: AED 9.5 million) with an equal corresponding credit to other
comprehensive income (OCI).

 The Group has recognised in OCI an amount of AED 3.5 million (2022: AED 16.8 million) which represents
the impact of indexing of non-monetary items from the date these were acquired by applying fluctuation in the
CPI from the date of acquisition to 31 December 2021 to the extent determined to be recoverable.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the loss for the Group was AED 97.7 million (2022: AED 31.7 million).
Overall, the hyperinflation adjustment results in a AED 3.1 million loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
AED 9.5 million loss).

The hyperinflationary adjustments are not taxable or tax deductible in either Ethiopia or the UAE, resulting in a
permanent tax difference.

36. COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

Certain corresponding figures for previous year have been reclassified in order to conform to the presentation for the
current year. Such reclassifications do not affect previously reported loss or shareholder’s equity.

As reported
earlier As reported now

31 December 31 December
2022 Reclassification 2022
AED AED AED

millions millions millions
Statement of profit or loss
Other income 108.3 (59.3) 49.0
Cost of sales (1,117.5)  59.3 (1,058.2)

These changes have been made to improve the quality of information presented.


